
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

BERKSHIRE PENSION BOARD
will meet on

WEDNESDAY, 14TH JUNE, 2017

At 12.30 pm

in the

MINSTER COURT - 22-30 YORK ROAD MAIDENHEAD 

TO: MEMBERS OF THE BERKSHIRE PENSION BOARD

SCHEME EMPLOYER REPRESENTATIVES: ALAN CROSS, SURJIT NAGRA, 
(SUBSTITUTES: TERRY BALDWIN, ANDY WALKER). 

SCHEME MEMBER REPRESENTATIVES: TONY PETTITT, ALAN NASH, JEFF FORD

Karen Shepherd - Democratic Services Manager - Issued: 6th June 2017 

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Andy Carswell 

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly by the nearest 
exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so by a 
member of staff.

Recording of Meetings –In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the meeting will be audio recorded, and filmed and 
broadcast through the online application Periscope. The footage can be found through the council’s main Twitter feed @RBWM or 
via the Periscope website. The audio recording will also be made available on the RBWM website, after the meeting. 

Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings  may be undertaken by any person attending the meeting. By 
entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this recording will be in the 
public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the Democratic Services or Legal 
representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I

STANDING ITEMS

ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 
NO

1.  INTRODUCTION AND APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

7 - 8

3.  MINUTES

To approve the Part I minutes of the meeting held on February 9th.
 

9 - 14

4.  SCHEME AND REGULATORY UPDATE

To receive a verbal update.
 

5.  INVESTMENT FUND POOLING UPDATE

To receive a verbal update.
 

6.  ACTION TRACKER 15 - 16



WORK PROGRAMME

ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 
NO

7.  BOARD ANNUAL REPORT

To receive a verbal update.
 

8.  FUND BUSINESS PLAN 17 - 32

9.  INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 33 - 40

10.  TRAINING REQUIREMENTS 2017/18

To receive a verbal update.
 



EMERGING ISSUES

ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 
NO

11.  NEW OR AMENDED RISKS

To receive a verbal update.
 

12.  IDENTIFIED OR REGISTERED BREACHES

To receive a verbal update.
 

13.  MEMBERSHIP

To receive a verbal update.
 

14.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS

To discuss any additional items of business.
 

15.  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

To consider passing the following resolution:-
“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst 
discussion takes place, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of 
part I of Schedule 12A of the Act".
 

16.  PENSION PANEL MINUTES 

To consider and review the Minutes of the Berkshire Pension Fund Panel 
meeting held on May 15th.

(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

17.  INVESTMENT GROUP MINUTES 

To consider the Minutes of the Investment Working Group held on April 26th.

(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

41 - 44





This page is intentionally left blank



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in discussion or vote at a meeting. The term ‘discussion’ means a discussion by the members of 
meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking part in the discussion or vote, Members should move to 
the public area or leave the room once they have made any representations.  If the interest declared has not 
been entered on to a Members’ Register of Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the 
next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



BERKSHIRE PENSION BOARD

THURSDAY, 9 FEBRUARY 2017

PRESENT: Alan Cross, Surjit Nagra, Alan Nash, Tony Pettitt and Billy Webster 
(Chairman)

Officers: Kevin Taylor and Andy Carswell

TRAINING 

Prior to the start of the meeting members received a training presentation from Nick 
Greenwood, Pension Fund Manager, regarding investments and investment strategy. It 
incorporated processes for determining investments, the funds available for investments, and 
how to choose the level of investment in each portfolio.

INTRODUCTION AND APOLOGIES 

No apologies for absence were received.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received.

MINUTES 

The Part I Minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2016 were agreed as an accurate 
record, subject to the following amendments:

 Page 11, the sentence ‘The Board were informed that the main issue was the that the 
number…’ be amended to delete the words ‘the that’.

 Page 12, the sentence ‘With regards to Exit Cap regulations the Board were informed 
that the consultation had closed and that each Government department had until 26th 
December 2016 to review exit payments before implementation on 26th June 2017’ to 
be amended to state ‘to review exit payments and until 26th June 2017 to put forward a 
proposed plan for implementation’.

 Page 12, the phrase ‘pension payments’ be amended to ‘pension strain costs’.
 Page 14, the word ‘wised’ to be amended to ‘wished’.
 Page 14, the word ‘Manger’ to be amended to ‘Manager’.

Regarding I-Connect the Board was informed that Reading had now gone live on the system, 
while Slough and West Berkshire had indicated start dates after April 1st. Wokingham were 
split between two payrolls, with the Corporate payroll set to convert to I-Connect but the 
Schools payroll would not. There was no update from Bracknell Forest. It was noted that the 
Berkshire College of Agriculture was also due to go live on I-Connect.

It was noted that no confirmation email had been sent with regards to liability assurance. It 
was confirmed that the Governance Survey had been circulated and that the Action Tracker 
had become a standing item at Board meetings.

It was noted that Alan Nash would now be listed within the Minutes and future Agendas as a 
Scheme Member Representative and not a Scheme Employer Representative.

9

Agenda Item 3



SCHEME AND REGULATORY UPDATE 

The Board were informed in a verbal update that proposed changes to the Local Government 
Scheme Regulations had not yet been enforced as they had been put back out to 
consultation. It was noted that the Investment and Management Fund Regulations came into 
effect from November 1st; however these could still be subject to amendments. The Board 
were informed that the Investment Strategy Statement would be considered at Panel on 
March 13th and needed to be implemented by March 31st.

Regarding the Exit Cap, the Board were informed that this was subject to an ongoing 
consultation and the Department for Communities and Local Government were noting 
responses. It was noted that a proposed methodology and implementation plan needed to be 
in place by June 26th.

The Board noted the updates.

INVESTMENT FUND POOLING UPDATE 

The Board were informed in a verbal update that legal decisions in relation to working with the 
Local Pensions Partnership were still being reviewed. Members were reminded that if an 
agreement could not be reached, there was still the possibility of working with the London CIV.

The Board noted the update.

PENSION PANEL MINUTES 

The Board noted that it had been agreed that the Chairman would be entitled to attend Part II 
meetings of the Pension Panel. However it was agreed that it would be asked if it would be 
possible for the Chairman to elect a representative to attend the Part II meetings if the 
Chairman was unavailable. It was also noted that attempts were being made to secure a slot 
at a Pension Panel meeting to discuss the activities of the Board.

ACTION TRACKER 

The Board were informed that there would be updates to items 12 and 13 on the Action 
Tracker at the next meeting. The Board noted the contents of the Tracker.

CASH MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The Board asked for clarity on what would happen if the credit rating for any of the Fund 
Managers fell, and if there was any flexibility with regards to the proposed limits. The Board 
were informed that any decisions over changing the limits and choosing to cease investment 
with a Fund Manager would be a matter for the Pension Fund. It was requested that this be 
discussed under Matters Arising at the next Pension Fund meeting as the Board felt there was 
a need to refresh the policy, given it was last updated in April 2015. The Board recommended 
that information should go on this and all documents to inform readers when it was last 
updated and when the next proposed refresh would take place.

The Board noted the contents of the policy.

FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 

The Board were informed that the Funding Strategy Statement was in the process of being 
updated. A draft version of the update had been prepared but had not been formally agreed 
and signed off. It was noted that some of the required updates were significant, such as the 
inclusion of the Investment Regulations. It was noted by the Board that the most recent 
Funding Strategy Statement had been approved by the Panel on April 28th 2014.

10



Queries over the contents of the Statement, in particular with regards to affordable employer 
contributions, were raised and it was questioned whether it should be included. The Board 
were informed that the draft version of the updated Statement was not available and so its 
contents were not currently known. The Board were informed that once the draft was ready it 
would be circulated to members.

The Board noted the update.

INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES 

The Chairman noted that Board members had had the opportunity to comment separately on 
the contents of the Statement of Investment Principles. It was noted that the report dated from 
April 2015 and that the new Investment Strategy Statement would replace the Statement of 
Investment Principles.

The Board noted its contents.

VALUATION OUTCOME 

The Board were informed via a verbal report that there had been an update regarding the 
Valuation as part of the training session held at the start of the meeting. The results from the 
actuary’s work in relation to the Valuation were due to be published and discussed at the 
Pension Panel meeting the following week.

It was noted that the fund had dropped to a funding level of 73 per cent, and that employer 
contribution rates would be increased as a result. The Board were informed that it was hoped 
the Valuation would be agreed and formalised at the Pension Panel meeting the following 
week, so that a formal report could be produced. The Board were also informed that Rates 
and Adjustment Certificates would be agreed, so that employers would know their new 
contribution rates for the period from April 1st 2017 until March 31st 2020. It was noted that 
some businesses would see a more significant increase than others.

The verbal update was noted by the Board.

BUSINESS PLAN 

The Board were informed that the Business Plan would be updated soon so that it would be 
applicable to the period 2017-18 and the medium term strategy 2018-21.

The Chairman queried why the Pension Fund used the same set of objectives and values as 
the Council, noting that the Council was merely the host authority and a separate entity from 
the Fund. He added that the corporate aims of the Council related to delivering to residents, 
while the Fund had a different set of customers, aims and outcomes. It was recommended 
that this should be considered when setting future business plans so that it truly represented 
the goals of the Fund.

The report was noted.

SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

The Board were informed that the SLA outlined the relationship between the Council and the 
Pension Fund but was in need of review. 

It was asked what the escalation process was in relationship to the SLA. The Board were 
informed that items could either be reported to the Pension Administration Service or through 
the Stewardship Report. The Board recommended that additional elements of the SLA were 

11



needed based on good practice elsewhere and asked that this be considered in future 
updates.

The report and update were noted by the Board.

PENSION ADMINISTRATION STRATEGY 

The Board were informed that the Pension Administration Strategy had been produced in 
order to take I-Connect into account. The Board were informed that they were not bound by 
the regulations to produce such a Strategy. The Chairman stated his belief that many of the 
activities of the Board were not adequately addressed with the Strategy and that various 
elements of the Strategy should be included in some other form of document as they were 
more procedural in nature.
 
It was suggested that a Strategic Statement at the front of the document would be appropriate.

The Strategy was noted by the Board.

NEW OR AMENDED RISKS 

It was asked if concerns had been raised regarding the possible impact on the financial 
viability of some small businesses due to the increase in employer contributions. The Board 
were informed that it would be checked to see if this had been included in the Risk Register.

IDENTIFIED OR REGISTERED BREACHES 

No new breaches had been identified or registered.

MEMBERSHIP 

It was confirmed that Alan Nash was now a Scheme Member Representative and not a 
Scheme Employer Representative. It was confirmed that Surjit Nagra is currently still a 
substitute member of the board, but discussions were ongoing regarding making her a full 
member.

The Chairman informed the Board that he had received notification that Jeff Ford had 
submitted an interest in joining the Board. It was noted that he was eligible to sit as either a 
Scheme Employer Representative or a Scheme Member Representative; however it was felt 
that he would be better suited to being an Scheme Member as it was easier to recruit 
Employer Representatives. The Chairman stated that he recommended Jeff Ford as a Board 
member.

The Chairman informed the Board that he had accepted a new job and was working his notice 
period with his current employer. He stated that he would initially oversee nominations and the 
possible appointment of the next Chairman. However, Tony Pettitt as the current Deputy Chair 
confirmed that he would be happy to pick up the role of Chair until such time as a new full-time 
Chairman was appointed

Kevin Taylor expressed his thanks to the Chairman for all of his work in relation to the Board.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That Jeff Ford be elected as a Scheme Member 
Representative of the Board.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

It was asked if the Board could have a training session from the actuary in June. The Board 
were informed that this could be possible subject to the actuary’s availability. The Board were 

12



also reminded that the actuary will be attending the forthcoming annual employer’s meeting on 
17th March and that all Members were invited to attend.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion took 
place on items 21 and 22 on the grounds that it may involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of part I of Schedule 12A of the Act.

The meeting, which began at 2.05 pm, finished at 3.15 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Action
No.

Date of
meeting

Action Item Description Comments Assigned To Status Status Date

10 26/11/2015 Review of Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15
and External Audit Report.

RBWM s.151 officer to be asked to review and explain
why/why not the auditors do not check compliance with
LGPS Regulations, Pension Accounts and CIPFA
accountancy disclosure guidance.

Billy Webster Open Initially with Howard Pearce. Passed to
Billy Webster.

12 26/11/2015 b) Adoption of Training Plan. Board members to inform the DPFM of any training
completed.

Board Members Open

13 26/11/2015 Pension Administration Strategy. Board members to provide DPFM with a list of key
officers within their organisations to be added to Pension
Fund distribution list.

Board Members Open

14 22/02/2016 Compliance with CIPFA audit guidelines. Chair to write to s.151 officer regarding Administering
Authority's compliance with CIPFA audit guidelines.

Billy Webster Open Initially with Howard Pearce. Passed to
Billy Webster.

19 28/04/2016 Review action tracker. Chairman and Deputy Pension Fund Manager to discuss
and review action tracker.

Billy
Webster/Kevin
Taylor

Open

23 28/07/2016 Nomination of an Employer Representative Bracknell Forest to nominate a successor to Alan Nash
who is retiring. Kevin Taylor to obtain nomination.

Kevin Taylor Open No action taken.15

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BUSINESS PLAN 2017-18

And

MEDIUM-TERM STRATEGY 
2018/2021

17

Agenda Item 8

javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


2

Business Plan 2017-18
18



3

Business Plan 2017-18

CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION...........................................................................................................5

2.0 STRATEGIC INTENT ...................................................................................................5

3.0 BUSINESS OBJECTIVES ............................................................................................6

4.0 VALUES........................................................................................................................7

5.0 BUSINESS TARGETS 2016/17....................................................................................7

6.0 KEY ASSSUMPTIONS AND RISKS ............................................................................8

7.0 CASH-FLOW SUMMARY.............................................................................................9

8.0 KEY INITIATIVES 2016/17 .........................................................................................10

9.0 REVIEW OF 2015/16 KEY INITIATIVES....................................................................12

10.0 MEDIUM TERM PLAN 2017/20..................................................................................15

19



4

Business Plan 2017-18
20



5

Business Plan 2017-18

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This document is intended to outline how the Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund will 
deal with its key responsibilities during 2017/18 and the over the medium-term from 2018 to 
2020.  The Administering Authority to the Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund is the 
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead (RBWM).

The Pension Fund has two teams – The Pension Administration Team and The Pension 
Finance Team.  Accounting for the Fund is carried out by colleagues within the Finance 
Team within RBWM’s Corporate and Community Services Directorate.

The Business Plan will be used to guide and direct the Fund, provide clarity and alignment 
on goals and objectives and establish key initiatives for the forthcoming year.  In addition, it 
is available to all stakeholders to better understand what the Fund is planning to do to 
provide an efficient service across the County of Berkshire whilst supporting the overall 
corporate aims of RBWM as the Administering Authority to the Pension Fund.

This Business Plan will be updated annually and presented to the Pension Fund Panel for 
adoption. The plan will also review the previous year’s plan and detail whether the objectives 
therein were met.

2.0 STRATEGIC INTENT – MISSION STATEMENT
The Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund aims:

To deliver an efficient pension service to all stakeholders in the Fund that:

 Is cost effective, high quality, innovative and fit for purpose;

 Ensures that Scheme members receive the right benefits at the right time;

 Ensures Scheme members are kept informed about their benefits and changes in 
regulations which will affect them;

 Manages the Fund’s investments in a risk controlled manner to meet the Fund’s 
strategic investment objectives;

 Recognises that pensions are an important part of employees’ reward packages 
which assists employers to deliver their strategic goals;

 Provides staff in the Pension Fund team with a satisfying work environment and 
career development path.

3.0 BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

The business objectives for the Pension Fund team are directly aligned to the Council’s 
corporate aims, as follows:

Business Aim Business Objective
Stakeholder Satisfaction To deliver an effective pension service that meets the 

expectations of Scheme members and other 
stakeholders as measured by a low number of 
complaints and adherence to agreed KPIs.

21



6

Business Plan 2017-18

Value for Money To manage the assets of the Fund in such a way as to 
achieve the medium term investment return objective, 
achieve value for money in all contracts and manage 
all other direct costs in managing the Fund and paying 
pension benefits.

To ensure we always remain compliant with legislative 
and regulatory requirements, avoiding any financial 
penalties or negative publicity, identifying and reducing 
business risks and minimising any negative internal 
and external audit comments and feedback.

Equip Ourselves for the Future To manage staff effectively in order to deliver high 
levels of morale, ensuring all staff are effectively 
performance managed and developed by ensuring 
sickness rates are reduced, aligned objectives are set 
for all staff, performance appraisals are undertaken 
and poor performers are appropriately dealt with.

To transform, develop and improve the Pension Team 
through creating an evidence-based continuous 
improvement culture and ensuring that all agreed 
projects and other initiatives are delivered to time and 
budget and achieve the expected benefits.

Delivering Together To work together with Elected Members to deliver the 
goals and objectives of the Pension Fund Panel, to be 
measured by positive feedback from Lead Members.

4.0 VALUES

The CREATE values of RBWM have been cascaded throughout the team and translated into 
local values and behaviours.  In the spirit of the behaviours adopted by the Royal Borough of 
Windsor & Maidenhead, the Pension Team will adopt the following values and behaviours:

 There will be no ‘ambushing’ or surprises - discuss first before raising in public;

 We will always be realistic when negotiating timescales and be considerate of other’s 
priorities and time;

 Everyone’s view matters and we will always give credit where it is due;

 We will share information, be inclusive and supportive and back each other up;

 We will always consider Scheme members and other stakeholders in everything we 
do;

 We will always look to do something rather than find ways to not do it and we will 
always look to support a reasonable request;

 We will accept being challenged and only challenge ideas not people;

 We will always deal with issues and not let them fester;

22



7

Business Plan 2017-18

 We will always lead by example;

 We will use face to face communication as our preferred initial medium with 
telephony as our second preference;

 If we do e-mail we will always use appropriate distribution lists;

 We will always respect each other and work together to meet the Fund’s objectives;

 We will promote and celebrate success;

 We will take full responsibility for our actions.

5.0 BUSINESS TARGETS 2017/18

Pension Team Business Objective 2017/18 Target
To deliver an effective pensions service that 
meets the expectations of members and 
other stakeholders as measured by a low 
number of complaints and adherence to 
agreed KPIs.

All annual benefits statements to be issued 
on time.

95% of critical service standards achieved 
(stretch 100%).

90% of non-critical service standards to be 
achieved (stretch of 95%).

Service related complaints to be less per 
member than 2015/16.

To manage the assets of the Fund in such a 
way as to achieve the medium term 
investment return objective, achieve value for 
money in all contracts and manage all other 
direct costs in managing the Fund and 
paying benefits.

Achieve a 4.5% real investment return over 
an economic cycle (7 years).

Tender all contracts when due with a stretch 
objective of reducing costs (on a like-for-like 
basis) in real terms.

To ensure we always remain compliant with 
legislative and regulatory requirements, 
avoiding any financial penalties or negative 
publicity, identifying and reducing business 
risks and minimising any negative internal 
and external audit comments and feedback.

Positive feedback from internal and external 
auditors that controls are better than in 
previous years.

To maintain robust business continuity, 
disaster recovery and emergency plans for 
all areas.

Reduce risk profile of the Pension Fund.
To incorporate Integrated Risk Management 
into the management of the Fund

Develop a Risk Dashboard with Lincoln 
Pensions

To comply with the Government’s Pooling 
Directive

Work with The Local Pensions Partnership 
to become a partner.

To manage staff effectively in order to deliver 
high levels of morale, ensuring all staff are 
effectively performance managed and 
developed by ensuring sickness rates are 
reduced, aligned objectives are set for all 

Overall staff satisfaction of at least 70% 
(stretch of 75%).

Staff absence rate to be reduced by 10% 
from 2016/17 levels (stretch of 15%).

23



8

Business Plan 2017-18

staff, performance appraisals are undertaken 
and poor performers are dealt with 
appropriately.

To transform, develop and improve the 
pension teams through creating an evidence-
based continuous improvement culture and 
ensuring that all agreed projects and other 
initiatives are delivered to time and budget 
and achieve the expected benefits.

Deliver 90% of tasks within the pension 
teams’ operational plan (stretch of 95%).

Deliver all agreed programmes and projects 
to time and budget.

To work together with Elected Members to 
deliver the goals and objectives of the 
Pension Fund Panel, to be measured by 
positive feedback from Lead Members.

Positive feedback from Lead Members on 
performance and engagement.

6.0 KEY ASSSUMPTIONS AND RISKS

The following are the key business assumptions used in the compilation of the 2017/18 
budget:

 Sufficient staff resources are available and committed to deliver business as usual 
and agreed projects, with key posts filled if they become vacant;

 The gap between benefits payable and contributions received will grow in the 
medium term thereby requiring the investment portfolio to generate a level of 
investment income sufficient to meet that gap to avoid the need to sell investments at 
an inopportune time;

 Staff turnover is as expected otherwise the Pension Team will struggle to meet its 
obligations to stakeholders;

 That performance targets remain as agreed;

 That central support resources are available to support the Pension Team;

 Changes to legislation do not adversely impact on the operation of the Pension Fund;

 Training and development resources are available;

 The new change management model is fully embedded and effective in managing 
and prioritising projects;

 FOI and DPA requests will not increase;

 Number of schools converting to academies and the number of new employers 
admitted to the Fund will remain in-line with previous years’ experience;

 The Pension Fund will need to adjust investment strategy as a result of the 
Government’s investment pooling strategy.

24



9

Business Plan 2017-18

7.0 CASH-FLOW SUMMARY

A summary of the forecast cash-flow for the Pension Fund is shown below:

Year to 
31/03/16 
(actual) 
£’000’s

Year to 
31/03/17 

(forecast) 
£’000’s

Year to 
31/03/18 

(forecast) 
£’000’s

Contributions – employees 26,041 26,433 26,400
Contributions – employers normal 52,142 53,021 54,200
Contributions – employers deficit 14,774 17,291 18,298
Transfers In 4,761 9,826 6,600
Employers additional contribution for 
early retirements

1,058 2,000 1,800

Investment Income via Custodian 25,868 32,708 32,000
Pensions Paid (Gross) -77,854 -82,230 -83,400
Retirement Lump Sums -17,213 -20,743 -21,200
Transfers Out -7,831 -6,967 -6,500
Investment Management Costs -5,783 -6,940 -6,600
Employee & Other Costs -1,212 -9,291 -1,300
Net Cash Flow 14,751 15,108 20,298

8.0 KEY INITIATIVES 2017/18

Business Objective Key Initiatives
To deliver an effective pensions service that 
meets the expectations of members and 
other stakeholders as measured by a low 
number of complaints and adherence to 
agreed KPIs.

Ensure that Pension Administration Software 
is kept up to date.

Complete Desktop Procedures by March 
2018 to ensure consistency of working 
practices in the Pension Administration 
Team and to enable PASA accreditation in 
2018/19.

To continue to work with Scheme employers 
to increase the percentage of member 
records administered via i-Connect from 27% 
at March 2017 to 60% by March 2018.

Continual review of Service Level 
Agreements to ensure they remain current.

Annual review of the Pension Administration 
Strategy.

Annual review of Communications Policy 
with the continuing aim to provide Scheme 
information digitally wherever possible.

Keep members up to date via newsletters 

25



10

Business Plan 2017-18

and Scheme employers up to date via 
bulletins.

Run Pension Surgeries at least twice 
annually for each Unitary Authority and at 
least once a year for other Scheme 
employers upon request.

Continue to provide training and literature for 
Scheme employers to assist them in 
administering the Scheme on behalf of their 
employees.

Continue to provide presentations and 
literature for Scheme members to provide 
greater understanding of their Scheme.

Maintain the Pension Fund web-site to the 
highest standards ensuring that all 
information is current and accurate.

Implement an Employer Self Service (ESS) 
application to enable Scheme employers to 
access the pension details of their own 
employees.

To manage the assets of the Fund in such a 
way as to achieve the medium term 
investment return objective with minimal 
loss of capital, achieve value for money in 
all contracts and manage all other direct 
costs in managing the fund and paying 
benefits.

Join the Local Pensions Partnership to 
comply with investment pooling as required 
by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government.

Implement Investment Strategy as agreed by 
the Pension Fund Panel.

Ensure that no fire-sale of assets is required 
to meet benefit payments.

To ensure we always remain compliant with 
legislative and regulatory requirements, 
avoiding any financial penalties or negative 
publicity, identifying and reducing business 
risks and minimising any negative internal 
and external audit comments and feedback.

Produce Annual Financial Statements so 
they can be published by 1 December 2017.

Complete contributions reconciliation.

Achieve a clean audit.

Complete Year End procedures in advance 
of 31 August 2017 to enable prompt issue of 
annual benefit statements.

Annual Benefit Statements (Active and 
Deferred members) to be issued by 31 
August 2017.

Apply Pensions Increase and HMT 

26



11

Business Plan 2017-18

Revaluation Orders.

Issue P60’s and payslips.

Service the Berkshire Pension Board to 
ensure they receive the information they 
require to discharge their obligations.

Ensure that all Pension Fund policies are 
current.

Ensure continuing compliance with the 
Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice 
number 14.

To manage staff effectively in order to 
deliver high levels of morale, ensuring all 
staff are performance managed and 
developed by ensuring sickness rates are 
reduced, aligned objectives are set for all 
staff, performance appraisals are 
undertaken and poor performers are 
appropriately dealt with.

Monitor staff requirements to ensure a high 
quality service is provided to stakeholders.

To transform, develop and improve the 
Pensions Team through creating an 
evidence based continuous improvement 
culture and ensuring that all agreed projects 
and other initiatives are delivered to time 
and budget and achieve the expected 
benefits.

Ensure that staff “buy-into” RBWM’s 
performance related pay scheme.

Ensure that staff receive appropriate training 
internally and from external providers.

To work together with Elected Members to 
deliver the goals and objectives of the 
Pension Fund Panel, to be measured by 
positive feedback from Lead Members.

Ensure Pension Fund Panel, Pension Fund 
Advisory Panel and Pension Board members 
receive appropriate training.

Ensure that Pension Fund Panel, Pension 
Fund Advisory Panel and Pension Board 
members understand the Fund’s strategy.

9.0 REVIEW OF 2016/17 KEY INITIATIVES

In 2016/17 we said that we would:

Business Objective Key Initiatives Outcome
To deliver an effective 
pensions service that meets 
the expectations of members 
and other stakeholders as 
measured by a low number of 
complaints and adherence to 
agreed KPIs.

Ensure that Pension 
Administration Software is 
kept up to date

Finalise Desktop Procedures 
to ensure consistency of 
working practices in the 

Achieved. All Pension 
Administration Software 
has been kept up to date.

Partially achieved. 78 
Desktop procedures have 
been compiled, approved 

27



12

Business Plan 2017-18

Pension Administration Team

Continue to promote and 
encourage employers to use 
i-Connect as the 
administering authority’s 
preferred method of data 
transfer.

Continual review of Service 
Level Agreements to ensure 
they remain current.

Keep members up to date via 
newsletters.

Run Pension Surgeries at 
least twice annually for each 
unitary authority and as 
requested by other 
employers.

Educate scheme employers 
by providing scheme training 
upon request.

Educate scheme members 
by providing presentations 
upon request from scheme 
employers.

Maintain web-site to highest 
standards ensuring that all 
information is current.

To increase the number of 
visits made to scheme 
employers to discuss key 
statutory responsibilities and 
improve performance.

and reviewed.  66 have 
yet to be created.

Achieved. 27% of Scheme 
members records were 
administered using i-
Connect at March 2017 an 
increase of 15% from 
March 2016.

Achieved. New SLA was 
implemented from 1 April 
2016.

Achieved. All newsletters 
produced throughout 
2016/17 on time and in 
line with the Fund’s 
Communication policy.

Achieved. 2 Additional 
surgeries were held at 
Unitary Authority level (a 
total of 14 in the year) plus 
a further 8 surgeries were 
held as hosted by other 
Scheme employers.  (563 
members attended).

Achieved. 7 employer 
training sessions provided.

Achieved. 6 presentations 
provided.

Achieved.  Web-site is 
continually reviewed and 
updated.

Partially achieved.  As e-
communications improve 
fewer requests for site 
visits are received.

To manage the assets of the 
Fund in such a way as to 
achieve the medium term 
investment return objective 
with minimal loss of capital, 

Join an LGPS Investment 
Pool as required by the 
Department for Communities 
and Local Government.

Not achieved.  Letter of 
Intent to join the London 
Pensions Partnership 
(LPP) submitted within 
required DCLG deadline.

28



13

Business Plan 2017-18

achieve value for money in all 
contracts and manage all 
other direct costs in 
managing the fund and 
paying benefits.

Implement Investment 
Strategy as agreed by the 
Pension Fund Panel.

Ensure that no fire-sale of 
assets is required to meet 
benefit payments

Achieved.

Achieved.

To ensure we always remain 
compliant with legislative and 
regulatory requirements, 
avoiding any financial 
penalties or negative 
publicity, identifying and 
reducing business risks and 
minimising any negative 
internal and external audit 
comments and feedback.

Produce Annual Financial 
Statements so they can be 
published by 1 December 
2016.

Complete contributions 
reconciliation.

Achieve a clean audit.

Complete Year End 
procedures before 31 August 
2016 to enable prompt issue 
of annual benefit statements.

Annual Benefit Statements 
(Active and Deferred 
members) to be issued by 31 
August 2016.

Apply Pensions Increase and 
HMT Revaluation Orders.

Issue P60’s and payslips.

Ensure that employers 

Achieved.  Document 
published and available 
from Pension Fund web-
site.

Achieved.

Achieved.  Audit rating 
‘Complete and Effective – 
Highest out of 4 Audit 
Opinions’.

Partially achieved.  
97.53% of procedures 
were completed on time. 
Remaining 2.47% of 
procedures were not 
completed on time due to 
certain Scheme employer 
data received by the Fund 
being of a poor quality.

Partially achieved.  100% 
of deferred member 
statements issued on time.  
97.53% of active member 
statements issued on time 
the remaining 2.47% be 
issued out of time due to 
issues with certain 
Scheme employer data.  
Matter now resolved and 
being kept under review.

Achieved. Pensions 
Increase applied in line 
with statutory legislation.

Achieved.  All documents 
issued in line with 
statutory legislation.

Partially achieved.  A 

29



14

Business Plan 2017-18

complete Policy Statements 
as required by LGPS 
Regulations 2013.

Service the Berkshire 
Pension Board to ensure they 
receive the information they 
require to discharge their 
obligations.

Ensure that all Pension Fund 
policies are current.

Ensure compliance with the 
Pensions Regulator’s Code 
of Practice number 14.

Complete triennial valuation 
of the Pension Fund by 31 
March 2017 and publish 
Rates and Contributions 
Certificate.

small number of Scheme 
employers have yet to 
issue their policies but are 
kept under review.

Achieved.  Pension Board 
receive everything 
required to operate 
effectively.

Achieved.  All policies are 
kept under review and 
updated as necessary.

The Pension Board 
procured an audit review 
of the administering 
authority’s compliance 
with Code 14 with a 
number of minor concerns 
being identified and 
resolved.

Achieved.  Valuation 
report, including the rates 
and adjustment certificate, 
is available from the 
Pension Fund website.

To manage staff effectively in 
order to deliver high levels of 
morale, ensuring all staff are 
performance managed and 
developed by ensuring 
sickness rates are reduced, 
aligned objectives are set for 
all staff, performance 
appraisals are undertaken 
and poor performers are 
appropriately dealt with.

Monitor staff requirements to 
ensure a high quality service 
is provided to stakeholders..

Achieved.

To transform, develop and 
improve the Pensions Team 
through creating an evidence 
based continuous 
improvement culture and 
ensuring that all agreed 
projects and other initiatives 
are delivered to time and 
budget and achieve the 

Ensure that staff “buy-into” 
RBWM’s performance related 
pay scheme.

Ensure staff receive 
appropriate training internally 
and from external providers.

Achieved.

Achieved.

30



15

Business Plan 2017-18

expected benefits.

To work together with 
Members to deliver the goals 
and objectives of the Pension 
Fund Panel, to be measured 
by positive feedback from 
Lead Members.

Ensure Pension Fund Panel, 
Pension Fund Advisory Panel 
and Pension Board members 
receive appropriate training.

Ensure that Pension Fund 
Panel, Pension Fund 
Advisory Panel and Pension 
Board members understand 
the Fund’s strategy.

Achieved.

Achieved.

10.0 MEDIUM TERM PLAN 2018/21

The following table details the medium term plan for the Pension Fund for the period 2018 to 
2021.

Objective Rationale Timescale
Investment Pooling. Required by the Department 

for Communities and Local 
Government per their 
announcement 25 November 
2015.

Letter of Intent to join Local 
Pensions Partnership (LPP) 
issued but not yet confirmed.  
Initial pooling of assets to be 
underway by 1 April 2018.

Attain accreditation to the 
Pensions Administration 
Standards Association 
(PASA).

Accreditation will confirm that 
the Pension Administration 
Team are adhering to 
industry best practice.

Desktop Procedures to be 
completed by March 2018.

Accreditation to be achieved 
during 2018/19.

Credit insure the Fund 
against loss incurred by the 
insolvency of admission 
bodies.

Protects the Fund against 
losses incurred when 
admission bodies become 
insolvent and they are 
unable to meet their 
cessation liabilities.

Initial work completed in 
2015. Further work regarding 
feasibility of an insured 
solution undertaken in 
2016/17.  Further work 
required in 2017/18.

Reconciliation of Guaranteed 
Minimum Pension (GMP) 
obligations.

Reconcile GMP values held 
with those calculated by 
HMRC or Fund faces making 
overpayments to existing 
scheme members and even 
to individuals for whom it is 
believed there is no liability.

By December 2018.

Introduction of Employer Self 
Service (ESS)).

Increase ability of Scheme 
employers to interact with the 
Fund via self-service facilities 
(operational efficiency)

By June 2017

i-Connect Will lead to improved quality 
of data held by Fund and 
increased efficiency of the 
service

60% of Scheme member 
records to administered via i-
Connect by 31 March 2018 
100% (or maximum viable) 

31



16

Business Plan 2017-18

achieved by 31 March 2019
Maintain sufficient cash-flow 
to avoid fire-sale of assets to 
meet benefits payable

Avoid sale of assets at low 
process negatively impacting 
long-term sustainability of the 
fund

On-going

Investigate additional 
longevity insurance

Protect fund against 
unforeseen improvements in 
life expectancy

On-going

Continuous review of 
investment strategy

Ensure that investment 
strategy is “fit for purpose”

On-going

Review inflation hedging 
possibilities

Protect fund against large 
rises in inflation

On-going

Approved by Berkshire Pension Fund Panel:  13 March 2017

32



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 1

Investment Strategy Statement

The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead (“RBWM”) acting as the administering

authority for The Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund, a constituent member of

The Local Government Pension Scheme in England & Wales, is required by Section

7 of The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of

Funds) Regulations 2016 to publish an Investment Strategy Statement.

This is the first such statement published by the Royal Borough and in accordance

with the Regulations it will be reviewed regularly and at no more than 3 year

intervals.

The Regulations require the administering authority to outline how it meets each of 6

objectives:

1. A requirement to invest fund money in a wide range of instruments.

RBWM’s policy is that the pension fund should have a highly diversified

investment portfolio spread across different asset classes and different asset

managers using differing approaches as appropriate. This ensures that the fund

money is invested in a wide range of instruments.

RBWM’s Pension Fund Panel has established an Investment Working Group

which meets at least quarterly to review the pension fund’s performance, asset

allocation and ability to meet its target return. In addition the Investment Working

Group reviews potential new investment ideas and products and opines whether

such ideas are consistent with the investment strategy of the fund and a suitable

investment.

The Investment Working Group receives advice from suitably qualified Officers

and Independent Strategy Advisers. It also makes use of information derived

from investment managers. It will commission specialist work from an external

adviser when it believes that neither Officers nor the Independent Strategy

Advisers have sufficient experience or expertise in a particular field.

To achieve sufficient diversification the fund divides assets across 4 broad

categories: equities, bonds, real assets and absolute return strategies. The size

of each bucket will vary depending on investment conditions but each bucket will

itself be diversified.

33

Agenda Item 9



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 2

Any investment strategy will have associated risks, including primarily that of not

meeting the returns required to ensure the long-term ability of the fund to pay

benefits as they fall due. To mitigate these risks the Investment Working Group

regularly reviews both the performance and the expected returns from the

portfolio to measure whether it has met and is likely to continue to meet its return

objective.

In addition the Investment Working Group notes that there will be an increasing

gap between contributions received and benefits – i.e. that the fund is cash-flow

negative. The Pension Fund Panel does not wish the fund to sell assets to pay

benefits. Consequently, it has resolved that a secondary objective of the

investment strategy of the fund should be to ensure that there is sufficient

investment income generated from the fund’s investments to meet any cash-flow

shortfall. This has been formalised as a medium term objective to generate a 2%

income return across the investment portfolio (i.e. investment income should be

at least equivalent to 2% of the fund’s assets).

2. The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and

types of investments.

In assessing the suitability of investments RBWM takes into account a number of

factors including prospective return, risks, concentration or diversification of risk

as well as geographic and currency exposures.

Performance benchmarks are set for the fund as a whole (target return UK

CPI+4.5%) as well as for individual allocations. The fund’s target return is greater

than the actuarial discount rate used to value liabilities and has been set at a

level sufficient to assist in meeting the funding gap whilst not taking excessive

investment risk. Furthermore the Pension Fund Panel has agreed that the fund

should aim to achieve its target return with a low level of volatility in those returns.

Whilst the fund as a whole has an absolute return target, RBWM recognises that

for measuring the performance of individual asset classes and managers

performance relative benchmarks may be more appropriate.

In ensuring the suitability of investments RBWM pays regard to both the potential

returns and risk (including possible interactions with other investments in the

portfolio). RBWM will also consider the reputational risk of being connected with

or investing in any investment proposal. RBWM expects its managers where

possible to take into account Environmental, Social and Governance issues when

making an investment. When making a direct investment the Investment Working

Group will pay attention to these issues prior to authorising or recommending an

investment.

34



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 3

RBWM measures the returns and the volatility of those returns on a quarterly

basis and publishes the results relative to a global group of investment funds with

a similar diversified approach to investment on the pension fund web-site.

3. The authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are

to be measured and managed

There are a variety of risks to be addressed when managing a pension fund with

investment risk being just one of them. In accordance with the principles of

Pensions Regulator guidance, in 2016 RBWM commissioned Lincoln Pensions to

undertake an Integrated Risk Management (“IRM”) study of the Fund. This study

looked at the interaction of employer covenant risk – the ability of the employers

to meet future contributions, support the investment risk (volatility of returns) and

underwrite funding risk (volatility of actuarial deficit). The study concluded that:

 The future contributions estimated by the Fund’s Actuary (on the GAD’s

funding test, i.e. aimed at removing an actuarial deficit over 20 years) are

likely to be affordable across the Fund’s employers over the next 10 years.

 Some of the Fund’s larger employers, notably unitary authorities, do face a

number of challenges in the near term which could constrain affordability

of future contributions, particularly given their statutory duties to provide

adequate services.

In reaching these conclusions, the Fund’s assets, liabilities, and its participating

employers have been subjected to a number of adverse stress scenarios to

assess resilience, which serve to test and constrain affordability. Where

employers find themselves under stress, they would be required to identify and

utilise financial levers in order to maintain contributions at the level required.

Such levers could include support from central Government or other employers,

increases in council tax rates, increasing borrowings (subject to restrictions) and

pledging assets to the Fund.

As part of the IRM study, Lincoln will now recommend a number of key

performance indicators which can be included as part of the normal monitoring

framework which will help the RBWM to identify on a timely basis any material

risks which may be crystallising. In addition, the RBWM may wish to develop

more detailed risk responses and contingency plans as part of their ongoing IRM

framework. RBWM will also be seeking to work alongside council

representatives as they continue to explore the possibility of formalising the

reliance that can be placed on central Government support.

Looking specifically at investment risk RBWM is of the view that the

diversification of the pension fund investment portfolio is so broad that investment

risk (volatility of returns) is low and will continue to be low. Ex ante volatility

35



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 4

estimates require forecasts by asset class of volatility and correlation and whilst

historic data can be used to estimate volatility for listed assets, it is much more

difficult for unlisted (e.g. private equity, infrastructure, real estate) assets.

Furthermore RBWM note that correlations continually change and in times of

financial stress all risk assets trend to a correlation with each other of 1. This “tail

risk” means that most risk models either understate risk in times of stress or

conservatively over-estimate volatility in normal markets.

The fund targets a long-term return of UK CPI+4.5%; this is sufficient for it to

meet its long-term liabilities. In setting the investment strategy, the Pension Fund

Panel decided that this return should be achieved with a low degree of volatility –

currently the fund targets volatility below 10% per annum over the medium term.

As a patient long-term investor the fund is prepared to ride-out short term

volatility in investment markets and may, if suitable opportunities arise, adapt its

investment strategy accordingly. At each review of the Investment Strategy

Statement the assumptions on risk and return and their impact on asset

allocation will be reviewed.

4. The authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of

collective investment vehicles.

RBWM has broad experience of investing in pooled vehicles be they collective

investment vehicles or other “collectives” such as multi-partner Limited

Partnerships.

When deciding whether to invest in a collective scheme or to seek a segregated

account RBWM, will pay close attention to:

 The relative costs between a collective investment scheme and a

segregated account with a focus on the Total Cost of Ownership

 The suitability and ability of a collective investment scheme to meet the

mandate requirements of RBWM.

RBWM recognises the government’s requirement for LGPS funds to pool their

investments and is committed to pursuing a pooling solution that ensures that

maximum cost effectiveness for the pension fund. In this respect RBWM

exchanged a Letter of Intent with the Local Pensions Partnership (“LPP”). RBWM

is reviewing the quantum of assets to be pooled with LPP. It has judged that

initially liquid assets will achieve the most instant benefits from pooling. The only

liquid assets that Berkshire holds are listed equities in Developed, Emerging and

Frontier markets currently (September 2016) these represent 34% of the fund’s

assets. RBWM believes that it would be uneconomic to pool existing investments

in private funds (private debt, private equity and Infrastructure) or real estate

funds largely due to the costs of transfer and the inequality created by sharing

future returns. When future investments in these types of funds are considered

36



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 5

RBWM will take into account suitable investment opportunities made available by

its pooling partners.

When it has become clear that the RBWM has become an investment client of

LPP or a shareholder in LPP this document will be updated to provide detail on

the structure and governance arrangements of LPP. At that time the RBWM will

be able to provide clarity what (if any) services that it will share or jointly procure.

The table below sets out (as at September 2016) the assets that will not initially

be invested through a pool:

Asset Class % of Fund
Private Debt 9.3%
Private Equity 10.1%
Absolute Return Funds 14.7%*
Infrastructure 4.8%
Pooled Real Estate Funds 11.6%
Local Assets** 0.3%

* In November 2016 RBWM resolved to reduce this allocation to less than 5%

of the fund by 31 December 2017

** Investment in Glassford LLP a private rented accommodation unit in

Wokingham

5. The authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate

governance considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-

selection, retention and realisation of investments.

RBWM accepts that stakeholders will have differing views on how social,

environmental and corporate governance considerations should be taken into

account and believes that no “onesize fits all” policy can possibly be implemented

across such a diverse portfolio such as that of the pension fund. Nevertheless

RBWM seeks to protect its reputation as an institutional investor and ensures that

its investment managers take into account these issues when selecting

investments for purchase, retention or sale. RBWM will not place social,

environmental or corporate governance restrictions on its managers but relies on

them to adhere to best practices in the jurisdictions in which they are based,

operate and invest.

6. The authority’s policy on the exercising of the rights (including voting

rights) attaching to investments.

RBWM expects its managers to exercise all rights attaching to investments

including voting in accordance with recognised responsible investment

guidelines. Where an asset is owned directly by RBWM on behalf of the pension

fund it will exercise all rights and vote shares in a responsible manner. Managers’

approaches to incorporating these factors into their investment philosophy and

37



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 6

process are but one of the many factors RBWM takes into account when

selecting managers.

RBWM expects its managers to comply with the principles of the UK Stewardship

Code and does so itself where holdings are owned directly by the Fund.

RBWM confirms that the Berkshire Pension Fund has no investments in

entities that are connected with the authority but if in future it does these will

be limited to no more than 5% of the Fund’s assets.

The table overleaf sets out the asset class limits as agreed by the Berkshire Pension

Fund Panel on 11 April 2016 and amended on 7 November 2016.

Approved by the Berkshire Pension Fund Panel 15 May 2017

Next review date: April 2018

38



Anne x1 Inve stm e ntStra te g ySta te m e nt Pa g e 7

Annex 1 – Agreed Asset Class Limits

Asset Class Proposed
Max %
(11 April
2016)

Amended
limit (7
November
2016)

Single Investment Limit
% (of fund)

Bonds 35 n/a
“Conventional” Gilts 25 25% in any single issue
“Index-Linked” Gilts 25 25% in any single issue
Investment Grade Bonds 25 2% in any single issue
Non-investment grade
bonds (“High Yield”)

10 0.5% in any single issue or
5% in any single fund

Private Fixed Interest 20 5% in any single fund
Convertible Bonds 10 5% in any single fund
Equities 60 n/a
Developed World Listed
Equities

40 5% in any single company

Emerging & Frontier Market
Equities

25 5% in any single fund

Private Equity 15 5% in any single fund
0.5% in any single co-
investment

Absolute Return (“Hedge
Funds”)

20 5* 2.5% in any single fund

Infrastructure 15 n/a
Global Infrastructure Funds 10 2.5% in any single fund
UK Infrastructure 5 5% in any single fund
Commodities 5 n/a
Commodity funds 3 3% in any single fund
Single Commodity
Exchange Traded Funds

2 2% in any single
commodity

Property 20 n/a
UK Funds 5 5% in any single fund of

funds
Global Funds 10 10% in any single fund of

funds
Private Rented Residential 5 3% in any single

development
Cash 15 2% in any single “money

fund”

* Redemptions are currently underway to bring the current investments to

within this limit. This is expected to be achieved by 31 December 2017.

39



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

41

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	6 Action Tracker
	8 Fund Business Plan
	9 Investment Strategy Statement
	17 Investment Group Minutes

